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LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC

STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Principal activity

Performance in the year

•

•

•

•

•

•

Future outlook

As at 31 March 2022, the Company has increased its investment in its gross lending by £3m since the prior year to £112 million (2021:

£109 million) in line with its issued loan notes of £112.7 million (2021: £112.7 million), whilst maintaining its cash not deployed balance

of £4.0 million (2021: £4.4 million). This offsets the increase in expected credit loss to £7 million (2021: £5 million) due to provisions

charged on two legacy defaulted loans. This increase in gross lending, coupled with the cash not deployed, and the trade and other

receivables balance of £6.9 million (2021: £5.9 million) ensures the Company is able to fully service its interest bearing liabilities.

As at 31 March 2022 the Company had £112.7 million (2021: £112.7 million) of issued bonds by principal value outstanding: 

The directors present their strategic report for LendInvest Secured Income PLC (the “Company”) for the year ended 31 March 2022.

The principal activity of the Company during the financial year was to provide secured property finance to third party borrowers.

The Company generated a profit after tax of £120,000 (2021: £600) during the year.

The Company continues to invest in short term loans to property professionals and may issue further notes according to the strategy of
the LendInvest Group (the “Group”). 

 The directors, in preparing this strategic report, have complied with s414C of the Companies Act 2006. 

£50 million issued on 10 August 2017;

£40 million issued on 6 April 2018;

£15 million held in treasury sold on 7 May 2019;

£0.5 million held in treasury sold on 9 January 2020;

£14.5 million held in treasury sold on 6 February 2020;

£7.3 million repurchased and cancelled on 7 April 2020.

The Company was incorporated on 3 October 2016. The Company subsequently issued a prospectus dated 19 July 2017 offering fixed
rate secured loan notes to be listed on the London Stock Exchange’s Order Book for Retail Bonds (ORB) market and guaranteed by the
Company’s parent, LendInvest plc.  
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LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC

STRATEGIC REPORT - (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Principal risks and uncertainties

Credit risk management

Market risk management

Climate risk management

The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit, market and liquidity risk: 

Credit risk is the risk that the Company’s loans and advances are subject to borrower default. It arises principally from the Company’s
receivables from customers and cash and cash equivalents held at bank. The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk by class of
financial asset is as follows:

Creating a positive impact on the environment, the communities our borrowers serve and our talented people is at the heart of our
approach. From rewarding borrowers that use environmentally sound practices and contributing to social regeneration, to supporting
our employees’ career development and seek to do right by all of our stakeholders. 

The tragic events in Ukraine have created global uncertainty and macro headwinds. We’re now dealing with the highest inflation since
1982 and interest rates have risen to their highest point in 13 years. Despite this backdrop the property market continues to be strong
with growth of 9.7% in average house prices over the 12 months to March 2022. Although we expect this growth to slow down, we do
not see this as a material concern. We have a relatively low loan-to-value of below 70%, providing some protection from the risk of
needing to absorb any losses from potential defaulting borrowers, even in a contracting market.

The Company gives consideration to climate risk also and as part of the Group. 

The Board has the overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk management framework. The risk
management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls,
and to monitor risks and ensure any limits are adhered to. The Company’s activities are reviewed regularly and potential risks are
considered. The overall objective of the Board is to set policies that seek to reduce risk as far as possible without unduly affecting the
competitiveness and flexibility of the business. 

Provisional EPC legislation states that properties may need to have an EPC rating of C or better from 2025 to secure a mortgage or to be
a suitable for tenants. It is important we manage this risk to make sure properties are above a 'C' rating or improved to 'C' to mitigate
against loans defaulting due to inability to refinance at term. The nature of our business model means we are at the frontline of
combating energy inefficiency and environmental impact. Our products provide borrowers with the finance they require to invest in
property assets that will need to meet future Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards (“MEES”). 

As we look forward, we will continue our journey to reduce our carbon footprint and ultimately to offset emissions to zero. 
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LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC

STRATEGIC REPORT - (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)

2022 2021
Assets £'000 £'000

Gross loans and advances 111,853 108,968

Cash and cash equivalents 3,994 4,423

Total 115,847 113,391

•

•

•

•

Credit risk management lies at the core of the business and the Company has continued to develop its strong credit risk management
framework which includes: 

A clearly defined credit risk policy. 

The continued recruitment of specialist skills in credit underwriting. 

A Credit Committee which meets monthly. 

An Impairment & Modelling Committee - specifically formed for the governance of IFRS 9 - which meets quarterly. 

In addition to managing the credit risk associated with borrowers, the Company manages other risks including: 
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LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC

STRATEGIC REPORT - (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)

Liquidity risk management

Carrying 
amount

Gross nominal
inflow / 

(outflow)

Amount due
in less than 
six months

Amount due
in six to 
twelve 

Amount due
between one 
to five years

At 31 March 2022 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3,994 3,994 3,994  -  -  

Trade and other receivables 6,855 6,855 6,855  -  -  

Net loans and advances 104,896 111,853 46,061 55,787 10,005

Total 115,745 122,702 56,910 55,787  10,005 

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables (3,394) (3,394) (3,394)  -  -  

Interest bearing liabilities (59,770) (118,230) (54,424) (2,136) (61,670)

Total (63,164) (121,624) (57,818) (2,136) (61,670)

Carrying 
amount

Gross nominal
inflow / 

(outflow)

Amount due
in less than 
six months

Amount due
in six to 
twelve 

Amount due
between one 
to five years

At 31 March 2021 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4,423 4,423 4,423  -  -  

Trade and other receivables 5,943 5,943 5,943  -  -  

Net loans and advances 105,086 108,928 70,876 37,952 100

Total 115,452 119,294 81,242 37,952  100 

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables (2,499) (2,499) (2,499)  -  -  

Interest bearing liabilities (111,920) (123,754) (2,934) (3,016) (117,804)

Total (114,419) (126,253) (5,433) (3,016) (117,804)

There is a risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company’s approach to managing
liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they fall due, under both
normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s position. The Company’s
liquidity position is monitored and reviewed on an ongoing basis by the directors and the Assets and Liabilities Committee. The
Company’s strategy is to grow the portfolio and then periodically securitise the assets. 

The tables below analyse the Company’s contractual undiscounted cash flows of its financial assets and liabilities:
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LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC

STRATEGIC REPORT - (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)

Capital management

•

•

•

•

•

Customers (borrowers, brokers 
and bondholders)

The likely consequences of any decisions in the long term;

The Company considers its capital to comprise of its equity share capital plus retained profits. The Company’s objectives when
maintaining capital are to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns to
shareholders. The Company sets the amount of capital it requires in proportion to risk. The Company manages its capital structure and
makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt.

Director’s responsibilities under the Companies Act 2006

Key stakeholder

We believe a diverse mix of 
investors is critical to providing a 
scalable, resilient and flexible asset 
management platform and to 
delivering a broad range of cost-
effective products for our 
borrowers. 

In prioritising our customers, we 
are able to achieve strong repeat 
rates, enabling us to generate 
efficiencies and, in turn, drive 
further value for our asset 
management platform. 

How we engage with our customers

Our sales, investor relations and relationship 
management teams are regularly in touch with 
our customers, in person and via the phone and 
video. 

We focus on service levels, publishing them to 
demonstrate to customers how we are 
maintaining operational standards. 

We track customer engagement through NPS, 
regular surveys, Trustpilot and other public 
forums.

Why customers are a key 
stakeholder

Since our incorporation, customer 
experience has been at the centre 
of our approach. Originating high-
quality assets and producing stable 
returns for our investors enables us 
to  optimise products and 
investment solutions for our 
borrowers and brokers, in a 
virtuous circle.

Relationships with customers, regulators and others; 

The impact of the Company’s operations on the community and environment; 

Maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct; and 

In addition to managing the credit risk associated with borrowers, the Company manages other risks including: 

The need to act fairly between members of the company. 

Under section 172 of the Companies Act 2006, a director of a UK Company must act in the way they consider would be most likely to
promote the success of the Company for the benefit of its members as a whole. In order to effectively discharge our responsibilities as
directors in accordance with section 172, we continuously have regard to the following matters:
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LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC

STRATEGIC REPORT - (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Director’s responsibilities under the Companies Act 2006 (continued)

Regulators

Key stakeholder

We operate within a robust 
governance and risk management 
framework which links to the 
regulatory environment in which 
we operate. 

Community and the environment

Key stakeholder

Additional highlights from the year include our 
partnerships with Climatecare, Kamma and 
Homes England and supported the Homes for 
Ukraine initiative.

The group have used digital tools to reduce the 
environmental impact of our business 
operations, resulting in saving 35,935kg in 
carbon emissions, 2,488kg in waste, 376,198l of 
water and 15,310kg of wood. 

Why the community
 and the environment are 

key stakeholders 

How we engage with our regulators

We proactively engage with regulators on key 
strategic decisions and encourage and welcome 
an open dialogue. Furthermore, we aim to 
ensure we meet the expectations of a modern 
corporate citizen, through the responsible, and 
proactive, application of legal, regulatory, 
environmental and ethical practices.

We believe a positive relationship 
with our regulators and an 
embracement of the regulatory 
environment in which we operate 
helps us to continually improve our 
culture, governance, conduct and 
accountability, to the benefit of the 
long term sustainable success of 
the business. 

The Company has FCA regulated 
listed bonds and is supervised by 
the FCA for money laundering 
purposes. 

How we engage with the community and on 
environmental issues 

Operating responsibly and ethically 
is central to our business strategy. 
As we grow, it is important for the 
long term success of the Company 
that we continue to reduce the 
environmental impact of our 
business and to make a positive 
impact on the industry and the 
communities that we serve.

Why regulators are 
key stakeholders 

In the financial year 2022, Motor Neurone 
Disease Association (MNDA), for whom our 
employees raised £21,180 through various 
fundraising initiatives. In 2021, LendInvest 
supported Chron's & Colitis UK.

To fulfill the responsiilities of the engagement 
with the regulator, management of the 
Company ensure that timely and accurate 
information is delivered by the filing deadlines.
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LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC

STRATEGIC REPORT - (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Director’s responsibilities under the Companies Act 2006 (continued)

Section 172(1) (d) - Impact of the Company’s operations on the community and the environment

The Company’s Executive Committee is responsible for ensuring that key strategic and operational decisions in their area take into 
account community and environmental considerations, support ESG and CSR initiatives and practices through role-modelling and the
allocation of sufficient resources and , and ensuring compliance with the Company’s policies and procedures in respect of ESG and CSR.

We have established an Executive-level ESG committee which is primarily responsible for recommending the ESG strategy, policy and key 
performance indicators for the Group and overseeing their implementation,working with the culture and community committee and 
the diversity and inclusion champions, both of whom report to the ESG Committee, to drive engagement and inclusion within the 
business on ESG initiatives, and ensuring that the Company provides appropriate information regarding its ESG related policies and 
objectives with the investment community and key stakeholders.

Our impact on the natural environment and our response to the challenge of climate change including energy consumption, generation 
and use of renewable energy, biodiversity and habitat, impact on water resources and the status of water bodies, pollution, resources 
efficiency, and the reduction and management of waste.

Our approach to the environment considers the impact of our business both at the asset management and platform level and the 
subsequent ways that we can mitigate this impact. The UK's built environment accounts for 20-30% of UK emissions and so supporting 
products and initiatives that decarbonise the sector will produce positive externalities for society. 

Assessing the impact of our financing and the portfolios of assets we provide capital for. Our initiatives focus on encouraging 
environmentally friendly behaviour among borrowers by creating tailored financing solutions, fee discounts, rate discounts and thought 
leadership, and with the target of lowering emissions of our AuM. 
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LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC

STRATEGIC REPORT - (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Key performance indicators

Gross amounts of loans outstanding 
(£m)

112 109 3%

Net amounts of loans outstanding 
(£m)

105 105 0%

Expected credit loss provision (£m) 7 5 40%
Cash not deployed (£m) 4.0 4.4 -9%
Euro Medium Term Note loan notes 
issued (£m)

112.7 112.7 0%

Total loan losses realised (annualised 
%)

1.10% 1.22% -10%

Weighted average Loan to Value of 
loans (%)

62% 66% -5%

Profit before tax (£k) 148 1

The Company uses key performance indicators to track progress against its plans. The performance of the main
indicators in this reporting period were: 

31 March 2022 31 March 2021
Increase/ 
decrease

For further details of the loan and ECL provision movements, please see note 10.

Events after the reporting date

In August 2022, Retail Bond 1 will mature. Since July 2022, a refinance programme has been launched for the 
investors of the bonds.

Approved by the Board on 29 July 2022 signed on its behalf by:

Michael Evans
Director
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LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC

DIRECTOR'S REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 
March 2022. 

Future outlook

See strategic report on page 2.

Principal risks and uncertainties

See strategic report on page 2.

Going concern

On the basis of their assessment of the Company’s financial position and that of its parent LendInvest plc, the 
Company’s directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company will be able to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future. 

The directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company will have adequate resources to continue to 
operate for a period of at least 12 months from the signing date of these accounts. The directors believe the 
Company is in a strong financial position, with its ultimate parent, LendInvest plc having raised £40 million 
during its listing onto the London Stock Exchange Alternative Investment Market in July 2021, and as the Group 
is cash generative through its operations. The directors have reviewed the financial plan for the forthcoming 
year across a range of potential scenarios, including a review of ongoing covenant compliance under expected 
and potential stressed scenarios. The upcoming maturity of the Retail Bond has also been considered. They will 
continue to adopt the going concern basis to prepare the financial statements presented in this Report.

A comprehensive review of all covenants attached to the listed bonds, has been conducted to ensure ongoing 
compliance both under expected circumstances and potential stressed scenarios. The directors have reviewed 
these plans and consider the Company to have sufficient resources to continue its activities for 12 months from 
the date of approval of the financial statements, including against the most severe but plausible outcome and 
do not consider there to be any material uncertainty.

Results and dividends

The statutory profit after tax for the year ended 31 March 2022 amounted to £120,000 (2021: £600). The 

Company paid no dividends during the year (2021: £nil) and the directors do not recommend a final dividend. 

Director's responsibilities under the Companies Act 2006
See strategic report on page 6.

Financial risk management objectives (including credit, market and liquidity risk)
See strategic report on pages 2 to 6.
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LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC

DIRECTOR'S REPORT - (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Political donations

Events after the reporting date

Directors 

Michael Evans

Roderick Lockhart

Ian Thomas

The directors of the Company who were in office during the year and up to the date of signing of the financial
statements, were as follows:

No political donations were made during the year (2021: £nil).

In August 2022, Retail Bond 1 will mature. Since July 2022, a refinance programme has been launched for the 
investors of the bonds.
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LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC

DIRECTOR'S REPORT - (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Qualifying third party indemnity insurance

Auditors

•

•

The Company has arranged qualifying third-party indemnity insurance for all its directors.

Each of the persons who is a director at the date of approval of this report confirms that:

so far as the directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditor is
unaware; and

each director has taken all the steps he/she ought to have taken as a director in order to make
himself/herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is
aware of that information.

The confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of Section 418 of the 
Companies Act 2006.

Appointment of auditors

In accordance with section 485 of the Companies Act 2006, a resolution for the re-appointment of BDO LLP as 

auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. 

Approved by the Board on 29 July 2022 signed on its behalf by:

____________________
Michael Evans
Director
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LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC

•

•

•

•

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRS, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and 

prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue in business. 

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the Company's website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

DIRECTOR'S REPORT - (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Directors' responsibilities statement

The directors are responsible for preparing the directors' report and the financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that act the 
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with UK adopted International 
Accounting Standards. Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they 
are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of 
the Company for that period.

In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:
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LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC

Opinion on the financial statements 

•

•

•

Basis for opinion

Independence

Conclusions relating to going concern

•
•

•

•
•

•

Review minutes of meetings of those charged with governance;
Challenging the appropriateness of the Directors’ assumptions and judgements made in their base forecast and stress-tested
forecast. In doing so we agreed key assumptions such as forecast growth to historic actuals and relevant market data and
considered the historical accuracy of the Directors’ forecasts; 
Performing a review of compliance with borrowing covenants which comprised obtaining and reviewing covenant compliance
statements to verify that no covenant breaches have occurred which may trigger penalties or repayment of borrowings ahead of
the maturity dates; 
Obtaining and assessing management’s plans in respect of the Retail Bond that matures in August 2022;

We have audited the financial statements of LendInvest Secured Income PLC (the ‘Company’) for the year ended 31 March 2022 which
comprise the Statement of profit or loss, the Statement of other comprehensive income, the Statement of financial position, the
Statement of changes in equity, the Statement of cash flow and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and UK adopted
International Accounting Standards.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our
report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. Our audit
opinion is consistent with the additional report to the audit committee. 

Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were appointed by the Directors in October 2016 to audit the financial
statements for the period ending 31 March 2018 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement
including retenders and reappointments is 5 years, covering the years ended 31 March 2018 to 31 March 2022. 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 

Our evaluation of the Directors’ assessment of the Company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting
included:

We remain independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The non-audit services prohibited by that standard were not provided to the
Company. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC

In our opinion the financial statements:

give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 March 2022 and of its profit for the year then ended;

have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted International Accounting Standards; and

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Enquiring with the Directors and assessing the continued economic impact of COVID-19, Brexit and developments in Ukraine on the
business and whether the impact thereof has been adequately factored into their assessment of going concern; and 
We inspected the latest post year end management accounts and reviewed minutes of the meeting to determine if there were any
significant matters which could affect the going concern of the Company.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this
report.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least
twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

14



LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC

Key Audit Matters

2022 2021

Revenue recognition Yes Yes

Loan loss provisioning Yes Yes

Loans and advances valuation Yes Yes

Going concern: Covid-19 No Yes

Materiality

Company Financial Statements

An overview of the scope of our audit

Key audit matters

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC -
(CONTINUED)

In the current year going concern is not considered to be a KAM mainly due to the reduced uncertainty caused by Covid – 19 on the UK
economy.

£1,158,000 (2021: £194,000) based on 1% of total assets (2021: 7.5% of profit before tax adjusted for intercompany fees capped for
Group Materiality) 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial
statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud)
that we identified, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit,
and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements
as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Our audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of Company and its environment, including the system of internal control, and
assessing the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. We also addressed the risk of management override of internal
controls, including assessing whether there was evidence of bias by the Directors that may have represented a risk of material
misstatement.
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LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC

The Company’s mortgage interest income is 
recognised on an effective interest rate 
(“EIR”) method in accordance with the 
requirements of applicable accounting 
standards.

This method involves adjusting fee and 
interest income to ensure it complies with 
the EIR method. The models used to achieve 
this are complex and reliant on the 
completeness and accuracy of input data. 
Significant management judgement is also 
required to determine the expected cash 
flows for Company's loans and advances 
within these models.

Error within the EIR models itself or bias in 
key assumptions applied could result in the 
material misstatement of revenue.
The key assumption in the EIR models is the 
expected behavioural life redemption profiles 
of the mortgages due to the impact on timing
and quantum of expected future cash flows. 
This is the focus of the significant audit risk.

Revenue recognition on an EIR basis is 
therefore considered to be an area of 
significant risk.

In addition Management allocate income 
between legal entities of the wider Group on 
transfer of loans, and as such we have 
considered the recognition of  interest 
income in the appropriate legal entity to be 
an area of significant risk.

How the scope of our audit addressed the key 
audit matter

Effective interest rate risk
We utilised our internal IT specialist to assess 
the IT control environment surrounding the 
loans and related income and tested the 
operating effectiveness of internal application 
controls around the calculation of  interest 
income.

We assessed whether the revenue recognition 
policies adopted by the Company are in 
accordance with requirements of the 
applicable accounting standards. This included 
assessment of the types of fees and costs 
being spread within the EIR models to 
determine if these should be recognised under 
IFRS 9 or IFRS 15.

We assessed the completeness and accuracy of 
data and key model inputs feeding into the EIR 
models by agreeing samples back to the 
system or source documents.

We assessed the mathematical accuracy of the 
EIR Model’s by recalculating samples of EIR 
adjustments.

We assessed and challenged the 
reasonableness of the loan behavioural life 
assumptions applied by management for the 
EIR calculations based on comparison to the 
Company’s historical data, recent loan 
performance, product type and our own 
expectation of loan behaviour. 

We undertook sensitivity analysis on the 
behavioural life assumptions to ascertain how 
susceptible the EIR adjustment was to  
manipulation.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC -
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition
Revenue: £10,295,000 
(2021: £11,817,000)

Refer to the accounting policy in 
note 1 and note 4.

Key Audit Matter
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LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC

Revenue Recognition

How the scope of our audit addressed the key 
audit matter

Allocation of income between legal entities of 
the wider Group on transfer of loans risk

With the use of our internal IT specialists, we 
tested the IT control environment surrounding 
the loans and related income and tested the 
design and operating effectiveness of controls 
over the transfer of loans between entities and 
the allocation of contractual interest income 
between legal entities.

We selected a sample of interest allocation 
adjustments and loan transfers and verified 
these to supporting legal agreements to verify 
the accuracy of the split of interest income.

We performed testing over loan transfers 
which we considered to be high risk and 
outside expectations based on our 
understanding of the Group. For those 
identified we made enquiries of Management 
to gain an understanding of the basis for these 
transfers, and corroborated these explanations 
to supporting internal approvals.

Key Observations: 
We have not identified any indicators that the 
assumptions included in the EIR models are 
unreasonable in consideration of the 
Company’s mortgage portfolio, historic 
behaviours current economic and market 
conditions.

We have not identified any indicators that the 
revenue allocation between entities is 
inappropriate.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC -
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How the scope of our audit addressed the key 
audit matter

Commensurate with the activities of the 
Company, the total loan loss provision is a 
material balance subject to management 
judgement and estimation.

We assessed the completeness and accuracy of 
data and key model inputs feeding into the 
loan loss provisioning models through 
reconciliation to underlying records.

With the support of our internal data and 
valuations experts we have assessed the model 
code to confirm it’s functioning in line with the 
stated methodology and requirements of the 
applicable accounting standard. We also 
independently re-ran the model code within a 
test environment to confirm accuracy of the 
model outputs used by the Company. 

We evaluated the appropriateness of the 
selection and source of the information used 
by the Company to determine PDs, Loss given 
default (LGDs) and Exposure at default (EADs) 
by considering the requirements of the 
applicable accounting standard.

We evaluated the Company’s determination of
what constitutes a SICR and staging allocations
with reference to requirements of applicable
accounting standards and industry practices.
We then verified a sample of the Company’s
loans, to determine if staging and SICR
assessment has been applied in line with the
Company’s methodology.

Loan loss provisioning
Charge: £3,129,000 
(2021: £4,461,000)
Provision: £6,670,000 
(2021: £4,770,000) 

Refer to the accounting policy in 
note 1 and note 10.

Key Audit Matter

Key judgements and estimates in respect of 
the timing and measurement of expected 
credit losses (“ECL”) include:

- Allocation of assets to stage 1, 2, or 3 using 
criteria in accordance with the accounting 
standard.

- Methodology and determination of what
constitutes a Significant
Increase in Credit Risk

- Accounting interpretations and modelling 
assumptions used to build the models that 
calculate the ECL.

- Inputs and assumptions used to estimate the 
impact of multiple economic scenarios.

The impairment of Stage 3 loans, 
incorporation of macroeconomic factors and 
management overlays are the focus of the 
significant audit risk.

With the use of our internal valuation and 
economics expert we:

- assessed the appropriateness of the 
Probability of Default (PD) model used.

- assessed the appropriateness of the 
regression models used and the source and 
type of macroeconomic variables used such as
GDP and unemployment data. 

- assessed the reasonability of multiple 
economic scenarios used and weighting by 
considering the number of scenarios selected 
compared to market practices and through 
performing sensitivity analysis.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC -
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How the scope of our audit addressed the key 
audit matter

Loan loss provisioning We have assessed the completeness of loans 
subject to individual assessment through 
inquiry of the loan servicing team and 
reapplication of the individual assessment 
criteria to the Company’s loans.

We assessed the accuracy and validity of data
that feeds into the individual assessment cases
as well as the progress on the preferred
recovery scenario being pursued to supporting
documentation. Based on supporting case
evidence assessed and discussions with the
credit team we evaluated and challenged the
judgements applied in the individually assessed
Stage 3 loan assessments. This included
assessment of the recovery strategies,
recovery timelines, and the scenario weighting
applied in the individual assessment. 

We have challenged and assessed the validity 
and accuracy of any post model adjustments 
against the requirements of the applicable 
accounting standards, through recalculation 
and agreeing to underlying supporting 
documentation.    

We performed sensitivity analysis over key 
assumptions, such as forced sale discounts, 
significant increase in credit risk and discount 
periods, and considered these assumptions 
based on the past experience of the Company.

Key observations:
Based on our audit work performed, we 
consider the estimates made by management 
in the calculation of the impairment provision 
for loans and advances to be reasonable, and 
in line with the requirements of IFRS 9.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC -
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How the scope of our audit addressed the key 
audit matter

We assessed the completeness and accuracy of 
data and key model inputs feeding into the 
Loan fair value models through reconciliation 
to underlying records.

We undertook sensitivity analysis on the key 
inputs of the models and ascertained how 
susceptible the fair valuation of the model is to 
manipulation.

The Company’s business model requires the 
Company to measure the loan book at Fair 
value through OCI, which  requires modelling 
to determine the fair value adjustment 
applied to Loans and Advances. 

This  modelling is subject to material  
management judgments and assumptions in 
the determination of the discount rate used 
to discount future cashflows.

The Company’s models are materially 
sensitive to small changes in the discount 
rate assumption and therefore the valuations 
of the Company’s loan portfolios is 
considered a significant risk.

With the use of our internal valuation experts 
we:

-evaluated how the models calculated the fair 
value of the loan portfolios.

-evaluated the selection of key estimates and 
judgments that feed into the models, in 
particular the discount rates applied in the 
models. We also checked that the calculations 
of the models are in line with relevant 
accounting standards.

-assessed the models to check whether the 
fair values determined by management sit 
within our assessed acceptable reasonable 
range.

We recalculated the computations of the 
discount rates, agreeing inputs used to 
supporting documentation.  

We have challenged and assessed the validity 
and accuracy of any post model adjustments 
against the requirements of the applicable 
accounting standards, through recalculation 
and agreeing to underlying supporting 
documentation.    

Key observations:
Based on our audit work performed, we 
consider the valuation of loans and advances is 
a reasonable estimate in consideration of the 
key assumptions and judgements made.

Loans and advances valuation
Fair value: £104,896,000 
(2021: £105,086,000)

Refer to the accounting policy in 
note 1 and note 10

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC -
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Our application of materiality

2022 2021

Materiality £1,158,000 £194,000

Basis for determining 
materiality

Rationale for the benchmark 
applied

The entity is primarily an investment entity as 
it was established to issue listed debt and as a 
result of proceeds raised issue financing to 
customers.  As such a total assets basis, which 
in turns drives the funding of the entity, is 
considered to be the most appropriate.

In establishing an appropriate benchmark to 
use, we considered various financial measures 
including those used by the management in 
their internal reporting, other relevant 
measures such as regulatory capital surplus 
requirements, and industry practice. Profit 
before tax adjusted for intercompany fees was 
considered to be the most appropriate 
benchmark given the nature of the Company.

Performance materiality

Basis for determining 
performance materiality

£868,000 £126,100

Rationale for the benchmark 
applied

We apply the concept of materiality both in planning and performing our audit, and in evaluating the effect of misstatements. We
consider materiality to be the magnitude by which misstatements, including omissions, could influence the economic decisions of
reasonable users that are taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

In order to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that any misstatements exceed materiality, we use a lower materiality
level, performance materiality, to determine the extent of testing needed. Importantly, misstatements below these levels will not
necessarily be evaluated as immaterial as we also take account of the nature of identified misstatements, and the particular
circumstances of their occurrence, when evaluating their effect on the financial statements as a whole. 

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole and performance materiality as
follows:

75% (2021: 65%) of materiality. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC -
(CONTINUED)

Determined based on criteria such as the level of controls operated and complexity of the 
Company.

Company Financial Statements

Materiality is based on 1% of total assets  (2021: 7.5% profit before tax adjusted for 
intercompany fees).
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Reporting threshold 

Other information

Other Companies Act 2006 reporting

•

•

•

•
•
•

Responsibilities of Directors

we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If
we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a
material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

the information given in the Directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent
with the financial statements; and
the Strategic report and the Directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not
visited by us; or

the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual report
and financial statements, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements
does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Based on the responsibilities described below and our work performed during the course of the audit, we are required by the Companies 
Act 2006 and ISAs (UK) to report on certain opinions and matters as described below.

Strategic report and Directors’ report 

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not 
identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the Directors’ report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, 
in our opinion:

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them all individual audit differences in excess of £23,000 (2021: £3,880).
We also agreed to report differences below this threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC -
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As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

• in addressing the risk of fraud in accounting estimates, the procedures performed in the key audit matters section of our report
assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias.

Our audit procedures were designed to respond to risks of material misstatement in the financial statements, recognising that the risk of
not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery, misrepresentations or through collusion. There are inherent limitations in the audit
procedures performed and the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected
in the financial statements, the less likely we are to become aware of it.

A further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: 
https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the appropriateness of a sample of journal entries
and other adjustments to supporting documentation and evaluating the business rationale of any significant transactions that are
unusual or outside the normal course of business; and

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Extent to which the audit was capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

We assessed the susceptibility of the financial statements to material misstatement, including fraud and considered the fraud risk areas
to be management override of control and management bias in accounting estimates.
Our procedures in response to the above included:

reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations discussed above;

enquiring of management and those charged with governance about their own identification and assessment of the risks of
irregularities, including fraud;

reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance;

obtaining an understanding of the control environment in monitoring compliance with laws and regulations; 

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the financial statements from
our general commercial and sector experience, and through discussion with the Directors and other management, and discussed with
the Directors and other management the policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations. We communicated
identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any indications of non-compliance throughout the audit. 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below:

The legal and regulatory frameworks determined most significant are:

Companies Act 2006.

The applicable financial reporting framework.

The General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR).

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC -
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Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
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Use of our report

Ariel Grosberg (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor 
London, UK 
29 July 2022

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them
in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have
formed.

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number OC305127).

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC -
(CONTINUED)
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Note 2022 2021
£'000 £'000

Revenue 4 10,295  11,817  

Cost of sales 5 (6,434) (6,574)

Gross profit 3,861  5,243  

Administrative expenses (1,296) (2,594)

Impairment Provisions (2,417) (4,003)

Finance Cost 7  - (6)

Gain on derecognition of financial liabilities  - 1,361 

Profit before tax 148 1 

Taxation 9 (28)  - 

Profit for the year 120 1 

All amounts relate entirely to continuing activities and to owners of the Company.

The notes on pages 30 to 59 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Note 2022 2021
£'000 £'000

Profit for the year 120 1 

(1,175) 948 

Deferred tax credit / (charge) 11/12 223 (180)

(951)  768 

Total comprehensive (loss)/profit for the year (831)  769 

The notes on pages 30 to 59 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Items that will or may be reclassified to profit or loss
Fair value (loss)/gain on loans and advances measured 
at fair value through other comprehensive income 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 MARCH 2022

Note 2022 2021
£'000 £'000

Non-current assets

Loans and advances 10  104,896  105,086 

Deferred tax assets 11  86  32 

104,982  105,118  

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 13  6,855  5,943 

Cash and cash equivalents  3,994  4,423 

Total assets 115,831  115,484  

Current liabilities 

Trade and other payables 14 (3,394) (2,499)

Corporation tax payable 9 (28)  - 

Deferred tax liabilities 12 - (169)

Interest bearing liabilities 15 (52,574)  - 

(55,996) (2,668)

Non-current liabilities 

Interest bearing liabilities 15 (59,770) (111,920)

Total liabilities (115,766) (114,588)

Net assets 65 896 

Equity

Share Capital 17 50 50 

Other reserves (232) 719 

Retained Earnings 247 127 

Total equity 65  896 

The notes on pages 30 to 59 form an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 29 July 2022 they 
were signed on its behalf by:

Michael Evans
Director
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Other Retained 
Share capital reserves earnings Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Balance at 1 April 2020  50 (49) 126 127 

Profit for the year  - - 1 1 

Other comprehensive income - 768 - 768

Total comprehensive income - 768 1 769 

Balance at 31 March 2021  50  719  127 896 

Other Retained 
Share capital reserves earnings Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Balance at 1 April 2021  50 719 127 896 

Profit for the year  - - 120 120 

Other comprehensive loss - (951) - (951)

Total comprehensive loss - (951) 120 (831)

Balance at 31 March 2022  50 (232) 247 65 

The notes on pages 30 to 59 form an integral part of these financial statements.

1 Other comprehensive income consists of fair value adjustments on loans & advances through OCI (£1,175,000) 
(2021: £984,000) less deferred tax credit £223,000 (2021: £180,000).
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LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
AS AT 31 MARCH 2022

Note 2022 2021
£'000 £'000

Cash flow from operating activities

Profit for the year  120 1 

Adjusted for:

Subtract income tax (credit)  - - 

Add back impairment provision 10  2,441 4,003 

Finance cost 7  - 6 

Gain on derecognition of interest bearing liabilities - (1,361)

Amortisation of pre-paid funding costs  443 434 

Working capital adjustments

Increase in loans and advances 10 (3,427) (3,736)

Increase in trade and other receivables 13 (742) (4,212)

Decrease/(Increase) in trade payables 14 755 (492)

Interest paid 19  - (6)

Net cash flow from operating activities (410) (5,363)

Cash flows from financing activities

Increase/(decrease) in interest bearing liabilities 15 (19) (5,954)

Net cash flow from financing activities (19) (5,954)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (429) (11,317)

Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 4,423 15,740

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  3,994  4,423 

Interest received was £10m (2021: £11m) and interest paid was £6m (2021: £6m)

The notes on pages 30 to 59 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

1 Accounting policies

General information

Basis of accounting

Changes in accounting standards and policies 

LendInvest Secured Income PLC is a public limited company by share capital which was incorporated on 3 October 2016 in England
and Wales and is domiciled in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006. The address of its registered office is given on page
1.

In August 2020 the IASB issued Phase 2 Amendments to IAS 39, IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 for IBOR Reform. The Company has adopted Phase 2
amendments which provide relief so that when changing the basis for determining contractual cash flows for financial assets and
liabilities (including lease liabilities), the effect of the changes that are required by an interest rate benchmark reform (i.e. a direct
consequence of IBOR reform and are economically equivalent) will not result in an immediate gain or loss in the income statement.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International accounting standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and have been prepared on a historical cost basis with the exception of financial instruments
held at FVOCI. 

All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

The principal activity of the Company was to provide secured lending to third party borrowers. 

The Company is a 100% subsidiary of LendInvest Loan Holdings Ltd (which is in turn a 100% subsidiary of LendInvest plc) and its results
are included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Regulatory authorities and private sector working groups, including the International Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA) and
the Working Group on Sterling Risk-Free Reference Rates, have been discussing alternative benchmark rates for GBP LIBOR. LIBOR has
now been changed to SONIA. There are key differences between GBP LIBOR and SONIA. GBP LIBOR is a forward-looking term rate,
published for a borrowing period (e.g. 3 months) at the beginning of the borrowing period. SONIA is currently a backward-looking
rate, based on overnight rates from actual transactions, and it is published at the end of the overnight borrowing period. Furthermore,
GBP LIBOR includes a credit spread over the risk-free rate, which SONIA does not. 

On 31 December 2020, IFRS as adopted by the European Union at that date was brought into the UK law and became UK-adopted
International Accounting Standards, with future changes being subject to endorsement by the UK Endorsement board. LendInvest
Secured Income PLC transitioned to UK-adopted International Accounting Standard in its consolidated financial statements on 1 April
2021. This change constitutes a change in accounting framework. However, there is no impact on recognition, measurement or
disclosure in the period reported as a result of the change in framework.

The IASB issued a Phase 1 Amendments to IAS39, IFRS 9 and IFRS7 for IBOR Reform in September 2019. The amendments provide
temporary relief from applying specific hedge accounting requirements to hedging relationships directly affected by IBOR reform.
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LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

1 Accounting policies - (continued) 

New standards not yet effective

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in pounds sterling, which is the Company’s functional currency.

The Company is not exposed to variable rates in either its lending or funding, therefore the reforms to IBOR are not expected to have
any material impact on its performance. However, the Company continues to monitor the developments on IBOR reform for changes
that may affect the Company going forward.

Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which they
operate (their “functional currency”) and are recorded at the rates ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary
assets and liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the reporting date. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of
unsettled monetary assets and liabilities are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The Company’s financial statements have not been impacted by any changes and no transitional changes have been applied.

IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors (Amendment – Definition of an accounting estimate, 
and distinction between change in accounting estimate and change in accounting policy).

IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Amendment – Updating reference to conceptual framework).

IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment (Amendment - Prohibits deduction from the cost of assets, the amounts received from
selling items produced while preparing asset for intended use).

IAS 12 Income Taxes (Amendments regarding deferred tax on leases).

The IASB has issued a number of amendments to reporting standards which the Company has determined as being applicable to its
financial reporting. These amendments are effective in future accounting periods and the Company has not opted for any early
adoption. The following amendments are effective for the period beginning on or after 1 April 2022 and are not expected to have a
material impact on the Company:

IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets (Amendments – Clarification of cost input in determining 
onerous contracts).

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Amendments – Inclusion of fees in the ’10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilities). 

Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2).

IAS 1 (Amendment to classification of liabilities as current or non-current when settlement date is uncertain).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

1 Accounting policies - (continued) 

•

(i) Classification and measurement

Revenue recognition

Expenses are recognised in the statement of profit and loss in the period in which they are incurred.

In accordance with IFRS 9, the Company has classified its financial assets with reference to both the Company’s business model for
managing the assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the assets. The Company’s financial assets have been classified
into the following categories:

Financial Instruments 

Revenue represents interest and other income from borrowers and for the provision of finance. Revenue recognised on loans held by
related and third parties is recognised as follows:

Recognised under IFRS 9

The Company has classified the following assets as ‘at amortised cost’: cash in hand and balances, and trade and other receivables.
Assets held at amortised cost are initially recorded at fair value (usually transaction price) plus any directly attributable costs. They are
subsequently measured using the effective interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash balances and balances with a maturity of three months or less from the acquisition date
which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable in the ordinary course of the Company’s activities.

All revenue recorded in the financial statements is generated in the UK and sourced from transactions relating to property loans. Fees
on these transactions are calculated based on the above revenue recognition policy.

At amortised cost, these are assets for which the business model is to hold the asset and collect the contractual cash flows, and those
cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest and are on specified dates. This means that cash flows typically occur on pre-
determined dates and that interest primarily reflects the time value of money, compensation for credit risk and profit margin.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales represents interest expense on interest bearing liabilities which are accounted for under IFRS 9 on an effective interest
rate (EIR) basis, inclusive of directly attributable incremental transaction costs and fees including structuring fees, uncommitted fees,
and set up costs (legal fees).

Administrative expenses 

Interest on loans and advances made by the Company are recognised in the statement of profit and loss using the effective 
interest rate method.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

1 Accounting policies - (continued)

(i) Classification and measurement - (continued)

(ii) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

Impairment of financial assets

•

•

•

•

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or where the Company
has substantially transferred all risks and rewards of ownership. If substantially all risks and rewards have been neither retained nor
transferred and the entity has retained control of the asset, the assets continue to be recognised to the extent of the Company’s
continuing involvement. Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished.

At fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), these are categories of assets for which the business model is to hold the
asset and collect the contractual cash flows or to sell the assets. The contractual cash flows must be solely payments of principal and
interest. The Company holds loans and advances that are considered to meet the definition of the hold or sell business model. They
are therefore classified as ‘at FVOCI’. These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any attributable costs. Subsequent changes
in fair value are recognised in equity, except for impairment provisions which are recognised in the statement of profit and loss.

Purchased or originated credit impaired (“POCI”) – POCI assets are financial assets that are credit impaired on initial 
recognition. On initial recognition they are recorded at fair value. ECLs are only recognised or released to the extent that there 
is a subsequent change in the ECLs. Their ECL is always measured on a lifetime basis.

Stage 3 – assets where there is objective evidence of impairment, i.e. they are considered to be in default. Impairment 
provisions are recognised against lifetime ECL. For assets allocated to Stage 3, interest income is recognised on the balance net 
of impairment provision. 

All Financial liabilities are classified as ‘at amortised cost’. Financial liabilities are initially recorded at their fair value, and those to be
measured at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate method.

Impairment provisions are calculated for all financial assets held at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive
income. Loss provisions are also held against undrawn loan commitments, where a loan offer has been issued to a customer and
remains unexpired but the loan has not yet completed and so has not yet been recognised in the statement of financial position.

Impairment provisions are calculated on an expected credit loss (ECL) basis. Financial assets are classified individually into one of the
categories below: 

Financial Instruments  - (continued)

Stage 1 – assets are allocated to this stage on initial recognition and remain in this stage if there is no significant increase in 
credit risk since initial recognition. Impairment provisions are recognised to cover 12 month ECL, being the proportion of 
lifetime ECL arising from default events expected within 12 months of the reporting date. 

Stage 2 – assets where it is determined that there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, but 
where there is no objective evidence of impairment. Impairment provisions are recognised to cover lifetime ECL.
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1 Accounting policies - (continued) 

(ii) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities - (continued)

•

•

•

Impairment of loans and advances to customers

Individual loans are considered to be in default and are allocated to Stage 3 if the loan is more than 60 or 90 days past due (depending
on product type), is subject to certain forbearance activities, is in repossession or if the customer has been identified as bankrupt and
is in arrears by more than a nominal amount.

The primary driver in determining whether an individual loan has had a significant increase in credit risk is a quantitative assessment
of the increase in lifetime probability of default (“PD”). At each reporting date, a third party credit score is obtained and a movement
of three or more levels downwards is regarded as a significant increase in credit risk and the loan is allocated to Stage 2. 

Where there is objective evidence that asset quality has improved, asset will be allocated to a lower risk category. For example, loans 
no longer in default (Stage 3) will be allocated to either Stage 2 or Stage 1.

Evidence that asset quality has improved will include:

ECL is calculated by multiplying loss given default (“LGD"), PD and exposure at default (“EAD”). Each element of the calculation is
modelled at individual account level on a monthly basis over the remaining life of the loan, with the first 12 months totalled to obtain
the 12 month ECL and the lifetime ECL obtained by totalling the above over the full life of the loan. Modelling assumptions are based
on historical data analysis of the impact of economic variables on loan behaviour. 

Provisions are assessed on a loan-by-loan basis for stage 3 loans where the underlying loan balance is greater than £500,000 and the
loan to value is greater than 75%. Individual Stage 3 ECL on loans and advances to customers are calculated based on an assessment
of the expected cash flows and the underlying collateral. All individually assessed loans are reviewed at the Company's Impairment
and Modelling Committee using critical judgement.

If a loss is ultimately realised, it is written off against the provision previously made. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised directly
in the statement of profit and loss as they arise.

The overall ECL recorded in the financial statements is calculated as the probability weighted ECL over a range of possible forecasted
macroeconomic scenarios. The Company uses 45% / 50% / 5% base case / downside view / upside view to calculate the final ECL
provision. The Company is not large enough to have an internal economist so the scenarios are provided by Oxford Economics, a third
party forecasting and quantitative analysis provider.

Repayment of Arrears.

Improved credit worthiness.

Term extensions the ability to service outstanding debt.

In addition to the above, a number of qualitative criteria have been set such that loans which are considered to have a significantly
increased credit risk but would not be captured above are moved to Stage 2. A backstop is also in place such that all loans which are
between 21- 30 days past due (depending on which product type they relate to) are moved to Stage 2. 

Financial Instruments  - (continued)
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1 Accounting policies - (continued) 

(ii) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities - (continued)

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit and loss. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially
enacted at the year-end date and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is
settled. Deferred tax balances are not discounted. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense on all financial instruments is recognised in interest receivable or payable in the statement of profit and
loss. Interest income, any fees considered an integral part of effective interest rate of the loan and interest expense are calculated
using the effective interest rate method for financial assets and liabilities held at amortised cost and at FVOCI.

The effective interest rate method is a method of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset or to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Specifically, for loans and advances, the effect of this policy is to spread arrangement, broker and valuation fees, and costs directly
attributable and incremental to setting up the loan, over the expected life of the contractual period.

Going concern 

The Company’s business activities together with the factors likely to affect its future development and position are set out in the
Strategic report of these financial statements. It is on this basis that the directors have prepared the accounts on the going concern
basis. 

Current and deferred tax 

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax is provided at amounts expected to be paid (or
recovered) using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the year end date.

A comprehensive review of all covenants attached to the listed bonds, has been conducted to ensure ongoing compliance both under
expected circumstances and potential stressed scenarios. The directors have reviewed these plans and consider the Company to have
sufficient resources to continue its activities for 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements, including against the
most severe but plausible outcome and do not consider there to be any material uncertainty.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, which are described in note 1, the directors are required to make judgements
(other than those involving estimations) that have a significant impact on the amounts recognised and to make estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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1

•

•

•

a downside scenario as modelled in the Company’s risk management process; and

an upside scenario representing the impact of modest improvements to assumptions used in the central scenario.

a central scenario aligned to the Company’s business plan;

Accounting policies - (continued) 

Critical judgements in applying the Company’s accounting policies

Critical judgements and accounting estimates - (continued)

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (which are dealt with separately below), that the 
directors have made in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Significant increase in credit risk

The determination of how significant an increase in lifetime PD should be to trigger a move to Stage 2 for impairment requires 
significant judgement. Management have adopted a test-based approach to derive objective thresholds such that credit deterioration 
is recognised at the appropriate point. 

Fair value measurement

Judgements were applied to determine the unobservable inputs to the fair value models used to calculate the fair values of loans and 
advances. These include the discount rate, prepayment rates, PDs, LGDs, recovery costs and cure probabilities driven from the ECL 
models.

Estimates and assumptions

Fair value measurement 

A number of assets and liabilities included in the Company's financial statements require disclosure of fair value such as loans and 
advances and interest bearing liabilities. The fair value measurement of the Company's financial and non-financial assets and liabilities 
utilises market observable inputs and data as far as possible. Inputs used in determining fair value measurements are categorised into 
different levels based on how observable the inputs used in the valuation technique utilised are (the ‘fair value hierarchy’): 

Level 1: quoted prices in active markets for identical assets;   

Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs other than Level 1 inputs;

Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from market data and require a level of estimates and judgements within the model).

For further discussion around the key estimates and sensitivity, please refer to note 16.

Expected Credit Loss Calculation

The accounting estimates with the most significant impact on the calculation of impairment loss provisions under IFRS 9 are 
macroeconomic variables, in particular UK house price inflation and unemployment, and the probability weightings of the 
macroeconomic scenarios used. The Company has used three macroeconomic scenarios, which are considered to represent a range of 
possible outcomes over a normal economic cycle, in determining impairment loss provisions:
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1 Accounting policies - (continued) 

•

•

The central scenario represents management’s current view of the most likely economic outturn. During the year, the Company
applied a 45% base case / 50% downside / 5% upside scenario weighting.

Changes to macroeconomic assumptions, as expectations change over time, are expected to lead to volatility in impairment loss
provisions and may lead to pro-cyclicality in the recognition of impairment provisions.

Sensitivity Analysis – sensitivity analysis on the ECL models has been completed. Due to the high number of loans which are 
individually assessed, the model demonstrates very low levels of sensitivity, as can be seen from the two changes below:

The former weightings used at 31 March 2021 were:

40% / 50% / 10% to the central, downside and upside scenarios.

Changes to macroeconomic assumptions, as expectations change over time, are expected to lead to volatility in impairment loss
provisions and may lead to pro-cyclicality in the recognition of impairment provisions.

The underlying methodology on which the ECL model relies has been amended in the period ended 31 March 2022 to better identify
higher risk borrowers. The models for the period ended 31st March 2021 graded accounts on an 18 point scale, where bands 1-17
reflected increasing default risk and band 18 reflected ‘Default’. The banding was based on the borrower’s behavioural score. The
grading model was revised in the period ended 31 March 2022 and continues to use the underlying borrower’s behavioural score,
however, the number of bands is reduced to 10 with bands 1-9 reflecting increasing default risk and 10 reflecting ‘Default’. This
ensures more accurate identification of higher risk exposures and supports more efficient portfolio management.

All other major inputs into the models are consistent with the models for the period ended 31 March 2021.

The central scenario represents management’s current view of the most likely economic outturn. However, significant uncertainty
around the level and trajectory of UK inflation and the subsequent impacts on the wider economy has led management to increase
the downside weighting from the prior year ended 31 March 2021. The following weightings of the different scenarios were used
across short term ECL models for the period ended 31 March 2022:

Expected Credit Loss Calculation - (continued)

A 100% downside was applied to all the models. This would increase the ECL by £0.1m.

An 10% increase in the forced sale discount. This would increase the ECL by £0.3m (2021: £0.18m).

Critical judgements and accounting estimates - (continued)

For the prior year a survival rate metric (2021: 100% increase resulting in £0.33m ECL increase) was applied as opposed to downside
weighting. Management have assessed a downside weighting to be a more market reflective sensitivity metric and have adopted this
for the current period.

We have assessed the completeness of loans subject to individual assessment through inquiry of the loan servicing team and
reapplication of the individual assessment criteria to the Company's loans. The potential for management bias in key judgements,
estimates, modelling assumptions and accounting interpretations applied. This included assessment of the recovery strategies,
recovery timelines, and the scenario weighting applied in the individual assessment. We have challenged and assessed the validity
and accuracy of any post model adjustments against the requirements of the applicable accounting standards, through recalculation
and agreeing to underlying supporting documentation. We performed sensitivity analysis over key assumptions, such as forced sale
discounts, significant increase in credit risk and discount periods, and considered these assumptions based on the past experience of
the Company.
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1 Accounting policies - (continued) 

Write-offs

Funding

Intermediary fees

Dividends

Intermediary fees are charged by the ultimate parent, LendInvest plc, according to the level of support provided across loan servicing,
administrative and other support services included in administrative expenses in the statement of profit and loss on page 79.

Dividends are recognised when they become legally payable. In the case of interim dividends to ordinary and preferred share
shareholders, this is when paid by the Company. In the case of final dividends to ordinary and preferred share shareholders, this is
when declared by directors and approved by the shareholders at the relevant board meeting.

All borrowings are initially recorded at the amount of proceeds received, net of transaction costs. Borrowings are subsequently carried 
at amortised cost. The interest is calculated using effective interest rate method (‘EIR’) and recognised to the income statement over
the period of the relevant borrowing. 

Loans and advances are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no reasonable prospect of recovery. This is generally the
case when the primary security has been realised and the Company is unable to reach an agreement with the borrower for immediate
or short-term repayment of the amounts subject to the write-off. Write-offs constitute a derecognition event as detailed under
Financial Instruments in note 1. Financial assets that are written off can still be subject to enforcement activities in order to recover
amounts due. Amounts subsequently recovered on assets previously written off are recognised in impairment losses on financial
assets in the statement of profit and loss. 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the reporting date.
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2 Financial risk management 

Credit risk management

2022 2021
Assets £'000 £'000

Gross loans and advances 111,853 108,968

Cash and cash equivalents 3,994 4,423

Total 115,847 113,391

• a clearly defined credit risk policy;

• the continued recruitment of specialist skills in credit underwriting;

• a Credit Committee which meets monthly; and

•

The risk of movements in the price of the underlying collateral secured by the Company against loans to borrowers is actively
managed by the Company. Security over loan collateral is registered with the Land Registry, and only properties within England, Wales
and Scotland are suitable for security. Loans are capped at 80% of the open market value of the property against which security is
held, and minimum loan period interest is retained on completion for some short term loans. There is elevated risk of collateral price
movements given the volatility caused by the Covid-19 pandemic and the Group continues to monitor this closely and will take
proactive action to protect its position, where required.

The Board has the overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk management framework. The risk
management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and
controls, and to monitor risks and ensure any limits are adhered to. The Company’s activities are reviewed regularly and potential
risks are considered. The overall objective of the Board is to set policies that seek to reduce risk as far as possible without unduly
affecting the business’s competitiveness and flexibility. 

Other receivables principally comprise of amounts due from related companies. The recoverability of these amounts is reviewed on
an ongoing basis.

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021 approximates the carrying value. Credit risk relating
to cash and cash equivalents is mitigated as cash and cash equivalents are held with reputable institutions. 

The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk: 

Credit risk is the risk that the Company’s loans and advances are subject to borrower default. It arises principally from the Company’s
receivables from customers and cash and cash equivalents held at banks. The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk by class of
financial asset is as follows:

Credit risk management lies at the core of the business and the Company has continued to develop its strong credit risk management
framework which includes: 

The Company manages its exposure to credit losses by assessing borrowers’ affordability of loan repayments, risk profile, and stability
during the underwriting process. Impairments are monitored and provided for under IFRS 9. The credit policy is designed to ensure
that the credit process is efficient for the applicant while providing the Group with the necessary details to make an informed credit
decision. 

an Impairment & Modelling Committee - specifically formed for the governance of IFRS 9 - which meets quarterly.

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables represents the maximum exposure to credit risk for trade and other receivables.
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Liquidity risk management 

Carrying 
amount

Gross nominal inflow 
/ (outflow)

Amount due in 
less than six 

months

Amount due in 
six to twelve 

months

Amount due 
between one to 

five years
At 31 March 2022 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3,994 3,994 3,994  -  -  

Trade and other receivables 6,855 6,855 6,855  -  -  

Net loans and advances 104,896 111,853 46,061 55,787   10,005 

Total 115,745 122,702 56,910 55,787   10,005 

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables (3,394) (3,394) (3,394)  -  -  

Interest bearing liabilities (59,770) (118,230) (54,424) (2,136) (61,670)

Total (63,164) (121,624) (57,818) (2,136) (61,670)

Carrying 
amount

Gross nominal inflow 
/ (outflow)

Amount due in 
less than six 

months

Amount due in 
six to twelve 

months

Amount due 
between one to 

five years
At 31 March 2021 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4,423 4,423 4,423  -  -  

Trade and other receivables 5,943 5,943 5,943  -  -  

Net loans and advances 105,086 108,928 70,876 37,952   100 

Total 115,452 119,294 81,242 37,952   100 

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables (2,499) (2,499) (2,499)  -  -  

Interest bearing liabilities (111,920) (123,754) (2,934) (3,016) (117,804)

Total (114,419) (126,253) (5,433) (3,016) (117,804)

There is a risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company’s approach to
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they fall due,
under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s position. The
Company’s liquidity position is monitored and reviewed on an ongoing basis by the directors and management. 

All gross nominal inflows and outflows on financial assets and financial liabilities are due within 5 years at the reporting date.

The table below analyses the Company’s contractual undiscounted cash flows of its financial assets and liabilities:
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Capital management

•

•

3 Segmental analysis

4 Revenue 

2022 2021
£'000 £'000

Interest received 10,295 11,817 

Total 10,295 11,817 

5 Cost of sales

2022 2021
£'000 £'000

Interest Expense 5,991 6,140 

Funding Line Costs 443 434 

Total 6,434 6,574 

The analysis of the Company’s revenue for the year from continuing operations is as follows:

The Company considers its capital to comprise of its equity share capital plus its accumulated retained losses. 

to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders; and

The Company sets the amount of capital it requires in proportion to risk. The Company manages its capital structure and adjusts it in
the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Company may adjust the number of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, or
sell assets to reduce debt.

The Company’s objectives when maintaining capital are:

to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk.

The Company’s operations are carried out solely in the UK and consist of one business line (short term lending). The results and net
assets of the Company are derived from the provision of property related loans only.
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6 Auditor’s remuneration

2022 2021
£'000 £'000

Audit of financial statements 13 5 

7 Finance cost

2022 2021
£'000 £'000

Intercompany interest  -  6 

8 Staff costs

Key management personnel compensation

2022 2021
£'000 £'000

Salary, short-term benefits and pension 1,261 794 

Equity Based compensation 126  -  

1,387 794 

Fees payable to the Company's auditors for audit services of £13,000 in the current year are borne by LendInvest plc and disclosed 
in note 8 of the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Key management personnel, whom are only the directors, are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of the Company.

The Company employed no employees for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: none). The directors' remuneration is paid by
LendInvest Plc. The remuneration above is attributable to work performed by key management personnel across the Group and is not
entirely attributable to the Company. 

42



LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

9 Tax on profit

2022 2021
£'000 £'000

Current taxation

UK corporation tax   28  -  

Adjustment in respect of prior years  -  -  

Deferred Taxation

Origination and reversal of temporary differences  -  -  

Total deferred income tax charge  -  -  

Total tax charge   28  -  

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Other comprehensive income movements (223) 180 

Tax (credit)/charge in the statement of other comprehensive income (223)  180 

2022 2021
The differences are reconciled below £'000 £'000

Profit before tax 148 1 

Corporation tax at standard UK corporation tax rate of 19% (2021: 19%)   28  -  

Over provision of current tax  -  -  

Total tax charge   28  -  

Tax related to items charged or credited to the statement of profit and loss:

The tax on profit before tax for the year is the same as the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2021: 19%). The
differences are reconciled below: 

Factors that may affect future tax charges 

In March 2021, it was announced in Budget 2021 that the main rate of UK corporation tax will rise to 25% from 1 April 2023. The
proposal to increase the rate to 25% was substantively enacted in May 2021.

The charge/(credit) for the year in the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income:

Tax related to items charges or credited to other comprehensive (loss) / income:

43



LENDINVEST SECURED INCOME PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

10 Loans and advances

2022 2021
£'000 £'000

Gross loans and advances 111,853 108,968

ECL provision (6,670) (4,770)

Fair value provision (287) 888 

Loans and advances 104,896 105,086 

ECL Provision

As at 31 March 
2022

As at 31 March 
2021

Movement in the period £'000 £'000

Under IFRS 9 at the beginning of the period (4,770) (1,642)

Additional provisions made during the period1 (3,129) (4,461)

Utilised in the period2 1,229 1,333 

Under IFRS at the end of the period (6,670) (4,770)

1The ECL provision of £6.7m (2021: £4.8m) is stated including the expected credit losses incurred on the interest income recognised on
stage 3 loans and advances. The net ECL impact on the statement of profit and loss is £3.1m (2021: £4.5m).

2Loans that are written off can still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Company’s procedures for
recovery of amounts due. The contractual amount outstanding on loans and advances that were written off during the reporting
period and are still subject to enforcement activity is £12.2m (2021: £1.2m).

This includes the £2.4m (2021: £4.0m) of impairment provisions shown in the statement of profit and loss and the total impact of
expected credit losses on income recognised on stage 3 loans and advances using the effective interest rate of £0.7m (2021: £0.5m).

Fair value adjustment to gross loans and advances due to classification as FVOCI, based on the Group’s business model for managing
these financial assets.
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10 Loans and advances - (continued)

Analysis of loans and advances by stage
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Year Ended 31 March 2022 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Gross loans and advances 70,408 26,128 15,317 111,853 

ECL (35) (96) (6,539) (6,670)

Fair value adjustment 225 (609) 97 (287)

Loans and advances 70,598 25,423  8,875 104,896 

Year Ended 31 March 2021 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Gross loans and advances 23,482 66,018 19,468 108,968 

ECL (61) (309) (4,400) (4,770)

Fair value adjustment 326 298 264 888 

Loans and advances 23,747 66,007  15,332 105,086 

The maximum LTV on stage 1 loans is 75%. The maximum LTV on stage 2 loans is 85%. The maximum LTV on stage 3 loans is 167%.
The total value of collateral (capped at gross loan value) held on stage 3 loans is £13.1m. 

The maximum LTV on stage 1 loans is 76%. The maximum LTV on stage 2 loans is 77%. The maximum LTV on stage 3 loans is 132%.
The total value of collateral held (capped at gross loan value) on stage 3 loans is £31.2m. 
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10 Loans and advances - (continued)

Movement analysis of net loans by stage
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

As at 1 April 2021 23,747 66,007 15,332 105,086 

Transfer to stage 1   -  -   -  -  
- Transfer to stage 2 (13,230) 13,230 - - 
- Transfer to stage 3 (1) (7,035) 7,036 - 
- 

New financial assets originated1 83,666   -  -    83,666 
- 

(13,073) 12,517   556  -  

              - Financial assets which have repaid (10,418) (38,548) (5,047) (54,013)
              - Balance movements in loans (93) (20,748) (9,002) (29,843)

- Write-offs   -  -   -  -  
        - Total movement in loans & advances 46,851 (40,584) (6,457) (190)

As at 31 March 2022 70,598 25,423 8,875 104,896 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

As at 1 April 2020 54,761 32,115   17,530 104,406 

Transfer to stage 1 473 (473)  -  -  

Transfer to stage 2 (19,888) 24,712 (4,824)  -  

Transfer to stage 3 (6,839) (4,499) 11,338  -  

New financial assets originated1 46,181   -  -    46,181 

(25,643) 25,643   -  
-  

Financial assets which have repaid (26,117) (23,268) (3,922) (53,307)

Balance movements in loans 819 11,777 (4,790)  7,806 

Write-offs   -  -   -  -  

Total movement in loans & advances (31,014) 33,892 (2,198) 680 

As at 31 March 2021 23,747 66,007 15,332 105,086 

New financial assets originated and transferred to 
stage 2 & stage 3

New financial assets originated and transferred to 
stage 2 & stage 3
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10 Loans and advances - (continued)

Movement analysis of gross loans by stage
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

As at 1 April 2021 23,482 66,018 19,468 108,968 

Transfer to stage 1   -  -   -  -  
- Transfer to stage 2 (12,998) 12,998 - - 
- Transfer to stage 3 (1) (7,039) 7,040 - 
- 

New financial assets originated1 83,485   -  -    83,485 
- 

(13,083) 12,529   554  -  

              - Financial assets which have repaid (10,379) (38,412) (3,472) (52,263)
              - Balance movements in loans (98) (19,966) (7,044) (27,108)

            - Write-offs   -  -  (1,229) (1,229)
         - Total movement in loans & advances 46,926 (39,890) (4,151) 2,885 

As at 31 March 2022 70,408 26,128 15,317 111,853 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

As at 1 April 2020 54,683 32,540   18,885 106,108 

Transfer to stage 1 480 (480)  -  -  

Transfer to stage 2 (19,812) 24,637 (4,825)  -  

Transfer to stage 3 (6,754) (4,571) 11,325  -  

New financial assets originated1 45,732   -  -    45,732 

(25,463) 25,463 
 -  -  

Financial assets which have repaid (26,188) (23,558) (4,840) (54,586)

Balance movements in loans 804 11,987   256 13,047 

Write-offs   -  -  (1,333) (1,333)

Total movement in loans & advances (31,201) 33,478   583  2,860 

As at 31 March 2021 23,482 66,018   19,468   108,968 

New financial assets originated and transferred to 
stage 2 & stage 3

New financial assets originated and transferred to 
stage 2 & stage 3
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10 Loans and advances - (continued)

Movement analysis of ECL by stage
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

As at 1 April 2021 61 309 4,400 4,770 

Transfer to stage 1   -  -   -  -  

Transfer to stage 2 (10) 10  -  -  

Transfer to stage 3  - (6) 6  -  

New financial assets originated1 51  - -    51 

(17) 14 3 
 -  

Financial assets which have repaid (50) (70) (498) (618)

Changes in models / risk parameters  - (161) 3,146 2,985 

  -  -  711   711 

Write-offs   -  -  (1,229) -   1,229 

(26) (213) 2,139 1,900 

As at 31 March 2022 35 96 6,539 6,670 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

As at 1 April 2020 28 146   1,468 1,642 

Transfer to stage 1   -  -   -  -  

Transfer to stage 2 (7) 7  -  -  

Transfer to stage 3 (4) (3)   7  -  

New financial assets originated1 53  - -  53 

(22) 22   -  -  

Financial assets which have repaid (16) (139) (516) (671)

Changes in models / risk parameters   29.00 276 4,316 4,621 

  -  -  458 458 

Write-offs   -  -  (1,333) (1,333)

33 163 2,932 3,128 

As at 31 March 2021 61 309 4,400 4,770 

Total movement in impairment provision

New financial assets originated and transferred to 
stage 2 & stage 3

Adjustments for interest on impaired loans 

New financial assets originated and transferred to 
stage 2 & stage 3

Adjustments for interest on impaired loans 

Total movement in impairment provision

No POCI loans were originated during the year to 31 March 2022 and none are held at 31 March 2022. 
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10 Loans and advances - (continued)

As at 31 March 2022 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Risk Grades 1 - 5 70,598 25,277 - 95,875

Risk Grades 6 - 10  - 146   3,270 3,416

Risk Grades 11 - 15   -  -   -  -  

Risk Grades 16 - 17   -  -   -  -  

Default   -  -  5,605 5,605

Total 70,598 25,423 8,875 104,896

As at 31 March 2021 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Risk Grades 1 - 5 20,557 995 - 21,552

Risk Grades 6 - 10 745 17,960 - 18,705

Risk Grades 11 - 15 2,180 35,937 - 38,117

Risk Grades 16 - 17  -  11,126 -  11,126 

Default   -  -  19,468 19,468

Total 23,482 66,018 19,468 108,968

As at 31 March 2021 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Risk Grades 1 - 5 20,706 51,245 - 71,951

Risk Grades 6 - 9 2,776   14,773 -  17,549 

Default   -  -  19,468 19,468

Total 23,482 66,018 19,468 108,968

Risk grades detailed in the table range from 1 to 10 with a risk grade of 1 being assigned to cases with the lowest credit risk and 10
representing cases in default. Equifax Risk Navigator (RN) scores are used to assign the initial Risk Grade score with additional SICR
rules used to generate the final Risk Grade.

At 31 March 2021, the risk grades ranged from 1 to 18. During the year, the underlying methodology has been changed to better align
loss forecasting with portfolio risk. A 10 point risk grading has been implemented that is derived from the behavioural score of the
borrower.

Credit risk on gross loans and advances
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11 Deferred tax assets 
2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Deferred tax asset - Short term timing differences 86 32 

86 32 

12 Deferred tax liabilities
2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Deferred tax liabilities - (169)

- (169)

13 Trade and other receivables
2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Receivables from related parties 6,845 5,933

Prepayments and accrued income 10 10 

6,855 5,943 

14 Trade and other payables
2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Trade and other payables 1,447 554

Accrued expenses and deferred income 1,947 1,945 

Corporation tax payable 28 -

3,422 2,499 

£3.4m (2021: £2.5m) of the Company’s trade payables are unsecured intercompany payables owed by the Company’s subsidiaries. 

£6.9m (2021: £5.9m) of the Company’s trade receivables are unsecured intercompany receivables owed by the Company’s
subsidiaries. 
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15 Interest bearing liabilities

2022 2021
£'000 £'000

Interest bearing liabilities due within twelves months 52,685  -  

Interest bearing liabilities due after on year but less than five years 60,000 112,685 

Funding line costs1 (341) (765)

112,344 111,920 

On 10 August 2017, the Company issued £50 million of fixed rate secured loan notes listed on the London Stock Exchange’s Order
Book for Retail Bonds (ORB) market (Retail Bond 1). These bonds are guaranteed by the Company’s parent, LendInvest plc, have a
maturity of five years from date of issue and a fixed interest rate of 5.25% per annum, payable semi-annually.

On 6 April 2018, the Company issued £40 million of fixed rate secured loan notes listed on the London Stock Exchange’s Order Book
for Retail Bonds (ORB) market (Retail Bond 2). These bonds are guaranteed by the Company’s parent, LendInvest plc, have a maturity
of five and a half years from the date of issue and a fixed interest rate of 5.375% per annum, payable semi-annually.

Funding line costs are amortised on an effective interest rate basis. 

In January 2020, the Company sold above par, £0.25 million of Retail Bond 1 and £0.25 million of Retail Bond 2 bonds previously held
in treasury. These bonds are guaranteed by the Company’s parent, LendInvest plc and have a maturity of five and five and a half years
from the dates of issue of 10 August 2017 and 6 April 2018 for Retail Bond 1 and Retail Bond 2 respectively.

In February 2020, the Company sold at par, £9.75 million of Retail Bond 1 and £4.75 million of Retail Bond 2 bonds previously held in
treasury. These bonds are guaranteed by the Company’s parent, LendInvest plc and have a maturity of five and five and a half years
from the dates of issue of 10 August 2017 and 6 April 2018 for Retail Bond 1 and Retail Bond 2 respectively.

In April 2020, the Company cancelled £7.3m of bonds which were sold to the Company by a third-party bondholder at lower than par
value, recognising a gain of £1.4 million. These bonds are guaranteed by the Company’s parent, LendInvest plc and have a maturity of
five and five and a half years from the dates of issue of 10 August 2017 and 6 April 2018 for Retail Bond 1 and Retail Bond 2
respectively.

In May 2019, the Company sold, at par, £15 million of bonds previously held in treasury. These bonds are guaranteed by the
Company’s parent, LendInvest plc, have a maturity of five and a half years from the date of issue, which was 6 April 2018 and a fixed
interest rate of 5.375% per annum, payable semi-annually.

1 Funding line costs represent transaction costs incurred in issuing the retail bonds. £111k and £230k of funding line costs are
allocated to retail bond 1 and retail bond 2 respectively.
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15 Interest bearing liabilities  - (continued)

As at 31 March 
2022

As at 31 March 
2021

£'000 £'000

Interest bearing liabilities   112,344 111,920

Deduct: cash as reported in financial statements (3,994) (4,423)

Net debt: borrowings less cash 108,350 107,497 

Add: unamortised funding line costs 341 765 

Add: accrued interest expense 1,947 1,945 

110,638 110,207 

As at 31 March 
2022

As at 31 March 
2021

£'000 £'000

Cash flow movements (19) (5,954)

Non-cash movements 443 (927)

424 (6,881)

16 Financial instruments 

Principal financial instruments

Categorisation of financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial instruments measured at amortised cost

The principal financial instruments used by the Company, from which financial instrument risk arises, are loans and advances, trade
and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, interest bearing liabilities and trade and other payables. 

Financial instruments measured at amortised cost, rather than fair value, include cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
receivables, trade and other payables and interest-bearing liabilities. Due to their short-term nature, the carrying value of cash and
cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, and trade and other payables approximates their fair value. 

Net debt represents interest bearing liabilities (as above), less cash at bank and in hand (excluding cash held for clients) and excluding
unamortised debt issue costs but including accrued interest relating to the Company’s third-party indebtedness. A reconciliation of
net debt is:

All financial assets of the Company are carried at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income as at 31 March
2022. All financial liabilities of the Company are carried at amortised cost as at 31 March 2022.
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16 Financial instruments -  (continued)

a) Carrying amount of financial instruments

2022 2021
£'000 £'000

Financial assets not at fair value through profit and loss 

Cash and cash equivalents 3,994 4,423

Trade and other receivables 6,855 5,943

Loans and advances 104,896 105,086

Total financial assets 115,745  115,452  

Financial liabilities not at fair value through the profit and loss

Trade and other payables 3,394 2,499 

Interest bearing liabilities 59,770 111,920 

Total financial liabilities 63,164 114,419 

b) Carrying amount versus fair value

2022 2022
£'000 £'000

Carrying amount Fair value
Financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 3,994 3,994

Trade and other receivables 6,855 6,855

Loans and advances 104,896 104,896

Total financial assets 115,745  115,745  

Financial liabilities not at fair value through the profit and loss

Trade and other payables 3,394 3,394 

Interest bearing liabilities 112,344 112,685 

Total financial liabilities 115,738 116,079 

The following table compares the carrying amounts of the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities as at 31 March 2022:

A summary of the financial instruments held is provided below:
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16 Financial instruments -  (continued)

2021 2021
£'000 £'000

Carrying amount Fair value
Financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 4,423 4,423

Trade and other receivables 5,943 5,943

Loans and advances 105,086 105,086

Total financial assets 115,452  115,452  

Financial liabilities not at fair value through the profit and loss

Trade and other payables 2,499 2,499 

Interest bearing liabilities 111,920 113,387 

Total financial liabilities 114,419 115,886 

c) Fair value hierarchy

Level 3 - unobserable inputs (i.e. not derived from market data and require a level of estimates and judgements within the model).

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial asset or financial liability is categorised is determined on the basis of the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Financial assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety into
only one of the three levels.  The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

Level 1 - quoted prices in active markets for identical assets;

Level 2 - observable direct and indirect inputs other than level 1 inputs;

The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value measurement that reflects the price that would be received to sell the
asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 

The fair value of the Retail Bond 1 interest bearing liability is calculated based on the mid-market price of £100.20 (2021: £100.28) on
31 March 2022. 

The fair value of the Retail Bond 2 interest bearing liability is calculated based on the mid-market price of £100.70 (2021: £102.20) on
31 March 2022. 

As per IFRS 9, loans and advances are classified as fair value through other comprehensive income and any changes to fair value are
calculated based on the fair value model and are recognised through the statement of other comprehensive income.
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16 Financial instruments -  (continued)

As at 31 March 2022

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Loans and advances 104,896 - - 104,896 

Interest bearing liabilities (59,770) (112,344) - - 

As at 31 March 2021

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Loans and advances 105,086 - - 105,086 

Interest bearing liabilities (113,387) (113,387) - - 

Interest bearing liabilities are held at amortised cost on the statement of financial position.

Financial instruments measured or disclosed at 
fair value

For all other financial instruments, the fair value is equal to the carrying value and has not been included in the table above.

Discounted cash flow valuation

Financial instrument

Loans and advances

Valuation techniques used Significant input

Discount rate

Range

7.3% - 9.6%

The valuation techniques and significant input used in determining the fair value measurement of level 3 financial instruments are
below. 

Level 3 instruments include loans and advances. The valuation of the asset is not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs). Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow methods. The assumptions used in such models
include benchmark interest rates and borrower risk profile. The objective of the valuation technique is to determine a fair value that
reflects the price of the financial instrument that would have been used by two counterparties in an arm's length transaction. 

Financial instruments measured or disclosed at 
fair value
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16 Financial instruments -  (continued)

d) Fair Value reserve

Financial assets Deferred tax Fair value reserve
£'000 £'000 £'000

888 (169) 719

(1,175) 223 (951)

(287) 54 (232)

Financial assets Deferred tax Fair value reserve
£'000 £'000 £'000

(60)  11 (49)

948 (180) 768 

888 (169) 719

Movement in fair value adjustment for loans and 
advances at fair value through other 
comprehensive income

Balance as at 1 April 2020

Fair value reserve at 31 March 2021

Balance as at 1 April 2021

Movement in fair value adjustment for loans and 
advances at fair value through other 
comprehensive income

Fair value reserve at 31 March 2022

The significant input used in the fair value measurement of the reporting entity’s loans and advances is discount rates. A significant
increase / (decrease) in this input in isolation would result in a lower / (higher) fair value measurement. 
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16 Financial instruments -  (continued)

e) Fair Value through OCI sensitivity analysis

Discount rate Gain or loss as at 31 March 22 +100bps -100bps

£'000 £'000

(924) 304 

Discount rate Gain or loss as at 31 March 21 +100bps -100bps

£'000 £'000

552 1,260 

f) Interest rate sensitivity

•

•

•

• Equity reserves as at 31 March 2022 would increase by £0.6m (2021: £0.3m) after being offset by the deferred tax impact.

Impact of changes in significant inputs

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of the reporting entity’s loans and advances are prepayment
rates, discount rates and probability of default. Significant increase / (decrease) in discount rates of those inputs in isolation would
result in a lower / (higher) fair value measurement. A change in the assumption of these inputs will not correlate to a change in the
other inputs. The impact of changes in observable inputs shown in sensitivity analysis below will reported through other
comprehensive income.

As at the reporting date, if interest rates increased 100 basis points and all other variables were held constant:

Profit before tax for the year to 31 March 2022 would be unchanged. Although the Company’s interest rates on loans to
borrowers is operated as a fixed rate, the Company has the legal right to vary the borrower interest rate if certain changes in
interest rates occur. Implementing this provision would improve the impact of an interest rate increase. However, we have
assumed in this sensitivity analysis that the Company has not implemented this provision. Loans from lenders are fixed rate
denominated.

Equity reserves as at 31 March 2022 would decrease by £0.6m (2021: £0.3m) after being offset by the deferred tax impact.

A reduction of 100 basis points would result in negative interest rates. This has been applied below given indications by the Bank of
England that this is being considered.  If interest rates reduced by 100 basis points and all other variables were held constant:

Profit before tax for the year to 31 March 2022 would be unchanged. As noted above, the Company’s interest rates on loans to
borrowers are fixed rate denominated, with certain provisions to vary them, while loans from lenders are also fixed rate
denominated. 

Impact of changes in significant inputs
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17 Share capital

No. £'000 No. £'000

Issued ordinary shares of £1 each 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000

18 Reserves

2022 2021
£'000 £'000

  247 127 

2022 2021
£'000 £'000

(232) 719 

2022 2021

The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fixed income.

The Company’s other reserves are as follows:

Retained earnings

Fair value reserve

Retained earnings:

The retained earnings reserves represent cumulative profits or losses, net of dividends and other adjustments.

Other reserves:

The other reserves represent movements on the fair value of the financial assets classified as FVOCI.
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19 Related party transactions

2022 2021
Intercompany interest income/(expense) £'000 £'000

 -  (6)

2022 2021
Intercompany fee income/(expense) £'000 £'000

(1,296) (2,587)

2022 2021
Transfer of loan balances between the Company and related parties £'000 £'000

 255,884 302,708 

 174,866 201,500 

20 Ultimate controlling party

21 Events after reporting date

The controlling party is LendInvest Loan Holdings Limited, and the ultimate controlling party is LendInvest plc whose consolidated
financial statements are available at the registered address.

In August 2022, Retail Bond 1 will mature. Since July 2022, a refinance programme has been launched for the investors of the bonds.

Total value of loan balances transferred from the Company to related parties during the 
period

Total value of loan balances transferred to the Company from related parties during the 
period

LendInvest Finance No.6 Ltd

LendInvest plc

Intermediary fees are charged by the ultimate parent, LendInvest plc, according to the level of support provided across loan servicing,
administrative and other support services.

Transfer of loans balances are at fair value that reflects the price of the financial instrument that would have been used by two
counterparties in an arm's length transaction. 
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